
CODE ENFORCEMENT BOARD MEETING
MONDAY, MAY 18, 2026

CITY HALL at 685 WEST MONTROSE STREET 
At 6:00 PM

1

 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER  

 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
  

 MINUTES 
  

Approval of the March 16, 2026, Code Enforcement meeting minutes 
Approval of the April 29, 2026, Code Enforcement Special meeting minutes 

OPENING STATEMENT  

SWEARING IN WITNESSES  

 AGENDA 
  

**************************************************************************** 

OTHER BUSINESS  

Item 1 - C2410-0015 
Snodgrass 

 Euclides D Corona Guiterrez 
3262 Hanging Tide St. 
 

      
REQUEST:   Motion to Impose a Fine 

**************************************************************************** 
Item 2 - C2502-0006 
Snodgrass 

 Reliant Flips, LLC 
550 Disston Ave. 

      
REQUEST:   Motion to Impose a Fine 

**************************************************************************** 
Item 3 - C2409-0026 
Cortez 

 Kendra Elam 
2950 White Magnolia Loop 

      
REQUEST:   Motion to Impose a Fine 

**************************************************************************** 
Item 4 - C2507-0007 
Cortez 

 Grupo Cinco LLC 
1326 East Ave. 

      
REQUEST:   Request for Fine Reduction 

**************************************************************************** 
Item 5 - C2312-0028 & C2402-0057 
Cortez 

 FCH Properties LLC (Camping World) 
2480 US Highway 27 

      
REQUEST:   Request for Fine Reduction 

Page 1



CODE ENFORCEMENT BOARD MEETING
MONDAY, MAY 18, 2026

CITY HALL at 685 WEST MONTROSE STREET 
At 6:00 PM

2

 

 

**************************************************************************** 

NEW BUSINESS 

Item 6 - 26-000065 
Cortez  

 John P & Ann D Adams Family LP 
1600 Hancock Road 

      
VIOLATION:   Section 117.8 Prohibited Signs 

(11)(15)(19)(22) 
******************************************************************************* 

Item 7 - 25-000149 
Cortez  

 POP Florida Properties LLC 
16530 SR 50 

      
VIOLATION:   IPMC 302.3 Sidewalk and Driveways; 

308.1 Accumulation of Rubbish or 
Garbage; Section 117-8 Prohibited Signs 
(22) 

******************************************************************************* 
Item 8 - 25-000203 & 26-000083 
Cortez  

 R & M Retail LP 
1042 SR 50 
16526 SR 50 

      
VIOLATION:   IPMC 302.3 Sidewalk and Driveways; 

Section 117-8 Prohibited Signs 
(11)(15)(22) 

******************************************************************************* 
Item 9 - 26-000009 
Cortez  

 Grove IV Grantor Trust I 
2960 White Magnolia Loop 
 

      
VIOLATION:   IPMC 304.1 General; 304.2 Protective 

Treatment; Section 125-522 Building 
Permit Required (A) 

******************************************************************************* 
Item 10 - 25-000090 
Snodgrass  

 Siokis Properties LLC 
501 Pitt Street 

      
VIOLATION:   IPMC 302.4 Weeds; Section 18-53 

Nuisance (1) Weeds (2) Refuse; 18-54 
Creation of Nuisance 

******************************************************************************* 

NOMINATION FOR CHAIR 

NOMINATION FOR VICE-CHAIR 

CODE BOARD MEMBER TRAINING 

Page 2



CODE ENFORCEMENT BOARD MEETING
MONDAY, MAY 18, 2026

CITY HALL at 685 WEST MONTROSE STREET 
At 6:00 PM

3

 

 

ADJOURN  
 

Any person wishing to appeal any decision made by the Code Enforcement Board at this meeting 
will need a record of the proceedings. For that purpose, such person may need to ensure that a 
verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence 
upon which the appeal is based. 

 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), if any person with a disability as 
defined by the ADA needs special accommodation to participate in this proceeding, then not later 
than two (2) business days prior to the proceeding, he or she should contact the Development 
Services Department at 352-241-7335. 

 

Please be advised that if you intend to show any document, picture, video or items to the Council or 
Board in support or opposition to any item on the agenda; a copy of the document, picture, video or 
item must be provided to the Recording Clerk for the City’s records. 
 
 

Page 3



CITY OF CLERMONT 
CODE ENFORCEMENT BOARD 

MINUTES 
MARCH 16, 2026 

 
CALL TO ORDER 
Vice-Chair Fracasso called the meeting of the Code Enforcement Board to order on Monday, 
March 16, 2026, at 6:00 pm.  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND MOMENT OF SILENCE 
 
NEW BOARD MEMBER SWEARING IN 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Vice-Chair Fracasso, Member Vallier, Member Kilburn, Member 
Connelly, and Member Cornett. Members Camps and Fornoles were not present. 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Code Enforcement Officers Snodgrass and Cortez; Code Enforcement 
Manager Wallace, Code Board Attorney Brackins, Assistant City Attorney Dyen, Attorney Dan 
Mantzaris, Planning Manager John Kruse, and Planning Coordinator Rae Chidlow. 
 
MINUTES 
 
Motion to approve the Minutes for the November 17, 2025, Code Enforcement Board Meeting; 
Moved by Member Cornett; Seconded by Member Connelly.  Motion passed 5-0. 
 
OPENING STATEMENT – Vice-Chair Fracasso made the opening remarks. 
 
SWEARING IN WITNESSES 
Code Enforcement Officers, Wallace, Snodgrass, Cortez, and city staff, along with any of the 
public who may testify were sworn in. 
 
Assistant City Attorney Dyen introduced the cases and stated they would be heard in order 
except for Items 2 and 3 which will not be heard tonight.  
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
ITEM 1 – CASE NO. 2501-0024 
Quan Heng and Xin Wang 
LOCATION OF VIOLATION: 240 Edgewood Dr. 
REQUEST: Reduction of Fine 
 
Code Enforcement Officer Cortez explained the case. He said the property owner has been sent 
proper notice and Representative is present. He stated the property is in compliance as of 

Page 4



2 

October 6th, 2025. City’s recommendation is to reduce the fine to $4100 to be paid within 30 
days or fine will revert to original amount.  
 
Respondent was present and sworn in.  

Heng Quan, 240 Edgewood Dr., apologized for the delay in completing repairs on the property. 
He explained that there was never any intention of postponing the work and that repairs had been 
actively underway from the beginning, including both structural repairs and smaller listed items. 
He stated that all required work has now been completed. He attributed the delay to severe 
family financial hardship and said he has supporting evidence of their financial situation. He 
explained that both him and his wife have very limited income and mentioned providing W-2 
income documentation for both. It was suggested not to submit due to social security being on 
the documents.  

Board member Kilburn asked if this was a rental property with a tenant. 
 
Mr. Quan stated that it was.  
 
Member Connelly made a motion to reduce the fine to $4100 to be paid by April 16, 2026; 
Seconded by Member Kilburn. Motion passed 5-0 in approval.  
 
Respondent Heng Quan requested for an extended time to pay if he could not have full reduction 
of the fine.  
 
Member Connelly made a motion to reduce the fine to $4100 to be paid by July 16, 2026; 
Seconded by Member Kilburn. Motion passed 5-0 in approval.  
 
ITEM 4 – CASE NO. 26-000031 
Sunshine Properties, LLC 
LOCATION OF VIOLATION: 831 Oakley Seaver Dr. 
REPEAT VIOLATION: NFPA 1 Chapter 18.2.2.2 Access to Gated Subdivisions; Chapter 
18.2.2.3 Access Maintenance; Chapter 4.5.8 Maintenance, Inspection, and Testing 
 
Code Enforcement Officer Cortez and Fire Butler explained the case. He said the property owner 
has been sent proper notice. He stated the property is not in compliance. City’s recommendation 
is to find Respondent in repeat violation and to assess a daily fine of $500 for February 4, 2026, 
and $500 per day starting March 16, 2026, for every day the property remains in violation.  

Board member Cornett asked for the status of repairs discussed at the previous meeting in 
September. He recalled that there had been a list of required repairs for the property, including 
issues with the gate, a locking door, and several other items. He asked for clarification, stating 
that they assumed the other repairs had already been completed and that the gate remained the 
only unresolved issue. 

Fire Inspector Amber Butler clarified that was correct.   
 

Page 5



3 

Vice Chair Fracasso asked if there was a Knox box for the gate.  
 
Ms. Butler stated they had keys inside, but they did not operate. She explained that emergency 
personnel had requested keys multiple times but were unable to obtain them. As a result, 
responders previously had to force the lock when responding to an emergency call. She stated 
that emergency vehicles entered through another side and had to maneuver carefully, including 
backing through the property. She noted that approximately eight or nine fire trucks were 
involved and stated that if the gate had been functioning properly, these logistical access issues 
could have been avoided.  
 
Respondent was present and sworn in.  

Coryn Ettinger, 831 Oakley Seaver Dr., addressed the board regarding ongoing compliance 
issues at the property, stating that the property had previously achieved full compliance before 
the recent incident involving a reported potential structure fire. She clarified that the emergency 
call was triggered by a burning smell caused by turning on the heat for the first time, and not sure 
why it was immediately assumed to be a structure fire. She explained that multiple people had 
been asked for keys before asking her. She provided the key but by that time a door had already 
been forced open. She noted that the building contains 144 units, multiple secured areas, and 
numerous keys due to its size and access control systems. She emphasized that they willingly 
provided keys for public areas and only hesitated when access to individual apartments was 
requested because of legal obligations to notify residents unless there is a clear emergency 
exception. She stated that regarding the gate issue, she was not informed about the malfunction 
until the day after the incident, despite fire officials and property representatives being present 
during the event. She argued that earlier verbal communication could have allowed the issue to 
be addressed more quickly if safety was truly the priority. Once notified, she arranged for a 
vendor to inspect and repair the gate within 24 hours and coordinated testing with the fire 
department because the gate operates on a radio frequency system only emergency personnel can 
test. She stated that the gate was tested and confirmed compliant afterward. She explained that 
since the repair, there had been no activity or calls indicating the gate was malfunctioning again, 
leaving them unaware of any continuing issue. She said they were informed of a new non-
compliance issue only shortly before the hearing and immediately contacted a vendor to 
investigate the problem the next day. She expressed frustration that officials responded to other 
parts of their email correspondence but did not clearly explain what specific malfunction 
occurred during the latest inspection. She also noted that photographs shown during the hearing 
had not previously been provided to them. She clarified that they had requested the opportunity 
to be present during inspections only to better understand any issues and not to receive special 
treatment or avoid proper documentation and enforcement procedures. 

Vice Chair Fracasso asked if the keypad opens the gate.  
 
Ms. Ettinger stated that it did not open the gate.  
 
Board member Kilburn stated that it seems very problematic that the owner or manager cannot 
test the gate.  
 

Page 6



4 

Ms. Butler stated that inside the box for the gate, there should be a test button.  
 
Board member Cornett suggested that it was in the Respondent’s best interest to have the gate 
tested on a routine basis.  
 
Ms. Ettinger stated that it is something they are already putting into effect and has a company 
who is doing a bid.   
 
Board member Connelly questioned the maintenance and repairs of the gate.  

Ms. Ettinger explained that neither she nor the current owner were involved in the original 
construction project or installation of the gate system because the property was purchased around 
2020. She stated they do not know which company originally installed the access control. She 
stated that the manufacturer does not perform physical repairs, but they are using Insight 
Security, which is experienced and reliable. She confirmed they have an invoice documenting 
the repair work and technician notes and could provide it if needed. She mentioned that Ms. 
Butler and the technician tested the gate together, and it was functioning at that time, however 
malfunctioned again. She stated that an inspection is scheduled for 10:00 a.m. the following day 
with both parties expected to attend.  

Ms. Butler stated that the repairs seem to be temporary and not a permanent solution. 
 
Member Cornett made a motion to find the Respondent is in repeat violation and to impose a fine 
for the violation on February 4, 2026, of $500, and $500 per day for every day in violation 
starting March 17, 2026; Seconded by Member Vallier. Motion passed 5-0 in approval. 
 
ITEM 5 – CASE NO. 26-000004 
Kolb Trust 
LOCATION OF VIOLATION: 1919 Sunset Lane 
VIOLATION: Section 18-53 (2)(3)(11) Nuisances; Section 18-54 Creation of Nuisance by 
Property Owner Declared Unlawful; Section 18-92 Prohibition of Storage of Certain Items 
 
Code Enforcement Officer Snodgrass explained the case. He said the property owner has been 
sent proper notice and is present. He stated the property is not in compliance. City’s 
recommendation is to find Respondent in violation and to assess a daily fine of $250 per day for 
every day the property remains in violation after March 26, 2026.  
 
Respondent was present and sworn in.  
 
Chase Kolb explained that he was appearing on behalf of his father, who owns the property and 
stated that he is the tenant at the property. He stated that items and debris around the carport area 
were currently being cleaned up and should be removed within a week. He acknowledged the 
recurring issues and explained that part of the problem stemmed from allowing people of a 
nearby homeless community to use the property to charge phones, shower, and temporarily leave 
belongings in the carport area while moving between locations. He stated that he was not 
intentionally creating a nuisance and noted that some earlier violations were related to his own 

Page 7



5 

outdoor work area before he understood the applicable property maintenance codes. He stated 
that he has since been educated on the requirements and is working to correct the situation.  
Pat Woodhouse, 2010 Sunset Lane, spoke about ongoing problems associated with 1919 Sunset 
Lane, describing it as a persistent nuisance and safety hazard since 2022. She stated that the 
property has had repeated police activity, including a death from a drug overdose, SWAT team 
interventions, and multiple arrests, creating fear and instability for nearby residents. She thanked 
local police and code enforcement officials for their continued response efforts and described 
frequent foot traffic, alleged homeless activity, hoarding conditions, junk accumulation, and 
suspected drug-related issues at the property. She expressed concern about the impact on 
neighborhood safety, property values, and her ability to rent nearby homes she owns, noting that 
prospective tenants have referred to the property as a junkyard. She also raised concerns about 
pit bulls roaming the neighborhood, including incidents on her property late at night, and stated 
that residents are afraid to let children outside. She argued that the property remains occupied 
despite being red-tagged and urged officials to impose stronger enforcement measures, fines, and 
abatement actions, stating that temporary cleanups have repeatedly failed to resolve the 
underlying issues. She asked the Board to take decisive action to protect the neighborhood and 
restore safety and quality of life for residents. 
 
Daryll Woodhouse, 2010 Sunset Lane, also expressed concerns about the property, describing it 
as a long-standing and recurring nuisance that has persisted for years despite repeated 
involvement from code enforcement. He stated that temporary cleanups occur, but conditions 
quickly deteriorate again, with constant traffic to and from the property at all hours of the day 
and night. He expressed the belief that the property owner’s attempts to help homeless 
individuals were instead enabling ongoing drug-related activity and disorder in the 
neighborhood. He stated that complaints from multiple neighbors regarding noise, suspicious 
activity, and trash accumulation, noting that while some behavior appeared to improve after a 
fatal overdose occurred on the property’s front lawn, but that the overall problems continue. He 
characterized the property as a serious nuisance that has exhausted nearby residents and urged 
officials to take stronger action to finally resolve the situation. 
 
Tabatha Sullivan, 1919 Sunset Lane, stated that the man who died on the front lawn was her 
brother and that his death was caused by a heart attack related to ongoing health problems, not a 
drug overdose. She acknowledged the condition of the property and stated that she and her 
boyfriend have been actively working to clean it up and have removed and discarded large 
amounts of accumulated items. She emphasized their intention to be good neighbors and noted 
that areas including the garden, carport, and side yard have all been addressed as part of the 
cleanup effort. She stated that they are attempting to correct all violations identified by code 
enforcement and are actively working toward compliance. 
 
Member Connelly made a motion to find the Respondent is in violation and to impose a fine of 
$250 per day for every day after March 26, 2026; Seconded by Member Kilburn. Motion passed 
5-0 in approval. 
 
ITEM 6 – CASE NO. 25-000144  
Dutes Family Trust 
LOCATION OF VIOLATION: 1849 Moorings Ct.  

Page 8



6 

VIOLATION: Section 101-178 (a) Development Order and Permit Required; Section 105-77 
(a)(b) Violations; Enforcement; Section 105-78 Permit Required for Modification of Grade; 
Section 105-79 (a) Grading Plans; Section 105-84 Required Soil Conservation Measures 
 
Code Enforcement Officer Cortez explained the case. He said the property owner has been sent 
proper notice and is present. He stated the property is not in compliance. City’s recommendation 
is to find Respondent in violation and to assess a daily fine of $150 per day for every day the 
property remains in violation after April 15, 2026.  

A Representative was present and sworn in.  

Frantz Dutes explained that he and his wife purchased property at 1849 Mooring Court with the 
intention of building a home and moving closer to their children and grandchildren in Clermont. 
He stated that they secured a construction loan through Regions Bank and entered into a contract 
with Westmont Homes to build the residence. He stated that Westmont Homes began 
construction and drew approximately $90,000 from the loan but failed to meet numerous 
obligations and requirements throughout the project. He alleged that the builder failed to obtain 
HOA approval, comply with architectural review standards, complete construction within the 
timeframe required by the bank, and secure the necessary building permits before performing 
substantial work on the property. He also stated that the builder removed a large oak tree and 
failed to follow the agreed-upon construction specifications for the home. He emphasized that his 
family continues to pay interest on the unfinished loan while dealing with the consequences of 
the failed project. He acknowledged that he has some responsibility but argued that Westmont 
Homes bears primary responsibility for the situation and requested that the Board require the 
company to correct the violations, repair the property, and restore the site to code compliance. 

Code Enforcement Attorney Patrick Brackins explained that while the property owners may have 
a private legal claim against Westmont Homes for the problems related to the construction 
project, the city’s code enforcement authority under Chapter 162 applies only to the legal owner 
of the property, not to contractors or third parties. He stated that the board cannot issue 
enforcement orders or fines against Westmont Homes because they do not own the property. He 
stated that the Board does have discretion in setting a compliance deadline before fines begin to 
accrue. He noted that the recommended compliance date was April 15th, but the property owners 
could request additional time for compliance consideration. He emphasized that code 
enforcement actions are directed solely at property owners, similar to how renters cannot be held 
responsible through code enforcement proceedings against a property. 

Vice Chair Fracasso asked the Respondent if he intends to continue working with Westmont 
Homes or engage with a new builder or architect to complete the drawings for permitting.  

Mr. Dutes stated that at this time they no longer are interested in living at The Mooring and will 
put the property up for sale. He requested an extension to bring the property back into 
compliance. 

Member Kilburn made a motion to find the Respondent is in violation and to impose a fine of 
$150 per day for every day after June 15, 2026, if Respondent does not comply with this order. 

Page 9



7 

The Respondent is ordered to contact the Code Enforcement Officer to arrange an inspection of 
the property to verify compliance with the order; Seconded by Member Vallier. Motion passed 5-
0 in approval. 
 
ITEM 7 – CASE NO. 25-000196 
American Residential Leasing Company LLC 
LOCATION OF VIOLATION: 1260 North Ridge Blvd. 
VIOLATION: IPMC 110.2 Temporary Safeguards; IPMC 302.2 Grading and Drainage 
 
Code Enforcement Officer Cortez explained the case. He said the property owner has been sent 
proper notice and is present. He stated the property is in compliance. City’s recommendation is 
to find Respondent was in violation and to assess no fine at this time.   
 
 Daniel Dominguez, District Manager for American Homes for Rent, explained that after the 
company received notice of the violation, multiple vendors were sent to inspect the problem, but 
initially none were able to determine the cause. He stated that he did find a vendor who identified 
the issue as being related to the irrigation system, which was causing the erosion. He stated that a 
vendor may have assumed the caution tape already placed around the area satisfied the 
requirement for safeguarding the site and therefore did not take additional action. He emphasized 
that the company made efforts to resolve the issue as quickly as possible and offered updated 
contact information to help improve communication and response times in the future, noting that 
delays sometimes occur when messages are routed through out-of-state offices before reaching 
local management. 
 
Katie Spilker stated that she rents the property along with her husband and four children. She 
described ongoing safety and maintenance concerns related to the erosion issue on the property. 
She stated that her family had reported the problem to American Homes for Rent months before 
code enforcement became involved, after her autistic two-year-old child fell into the hole. She 
stated that American Homes for Rent was aware of the dangerous condition and sent multiple 
contractors to inspect it, but the issue remained unresolved and worsened over time. She 
emphasized that it posed a serious danger to her family and could have resulted in severe injury 
or tragedy. She expressed frustration that no protective fencing was installed by the property 
management company, noting that code enforcement ultimately handled the safety measures. 
She also criticized the company’s handling of repairs, stating that construction equipment 
damaged the front yard and irrigation system during remediation efforts and that repeated 
maintenance requests afterward were ignored. She mentioned that the company failed to show 
adequate concern for tenant safety despite the family paying significant monthly rent and being 
unable to safely use their backyard. 
 
Douglas Spilker explained that the erosion problem was caused by the irrigation system and 
questioned why the issue had still not been repaired if the cause had already been identified. He 
stated that despite repeated calls to the property management company, little action had been 
taken beyond obtaining an estimate, after which communication apparently stopped. He stated 
the company repeatedly sent different contractors to inspect the problem rather than addressing 
it, seemingly seeking a more favorable answer instead of completing repairs. He emphasized that 
meaningful action only occurred after code enforcement became involved following a 

Page 10



8 

recommendation from a neighbor employed by the City of Clermont. He stated that the property 
management company had been aware of the issue since August but continued delaying repairs 
while the hazardous condition persisted. He questioned why the irrigation system itself still had 
not been fixed if it was truly the source of the problem. 
 
Mr. Dominguez stated he was not previously aware of any issues with the property other than a 
formal complaint or violation received around November or December. He said he would 
investigate the reported irrigation problem at the front of the property and confirmed he had an 
open maintenance work order related to the issue, though he was unable to determine its status at 
the time. He committed to following up with the residents and ensuring the repair request will be 
prioritized. 
 
Vice Chair Fracasso criticized the property management for delays, stating that despite paying 
substantial rent, tenants were ignored and the issue took around three months to resolve, with 
multiple vendors being sent instead of direct action being taken. He stated that this approach 
reflected poor responsibility and lack of urgency from the landlord.  
 
Mr. Dominguez explained that vendors were hired to diagnose the issue and that the company 
relies on professional assessments to determine the cause before taking corrective action. 
 
Member Cornett made a motion to find the Respondent was in violation but currently in 
compliance; Seconded by Member Kilburn. Motion passed 5-0 with approval. 
 
AJDOURN 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:38 pm. 
 
 
 
 
                     _____________________________ 

  Chair Linda Camps 
Attest:          
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Rae Chidlow; Planning Coordinator 

Page 11



CITY OF CLERMONT 
CODE ENFORCEMENT BOARD 

MINUTES 
APRIL 29, 2026 

 
CALL TO ORDER 
Chair Camps called the meeting of the Code Enforcement Board to order on Wednesday, April 
29, 2026, at 6:00 pm.  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND MOMENT OF SILENCE 
 
NEW BOARD MEMBER SWEARING IN 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Chair Camps, Vice-Chair Fracasso, Member Vallier, Member Barone, 
Member Connelly, and Member Cornett. Member Fornoles was absent 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Code Enforcement Officers Snodgrass and Cortez; Code Enforcement 
Manager Wallace, Code Board Attorney Brackins, Assistant City Attorney Dyen, City Attorney 
Christian Waugh, Planning Director Curt Henschel, and Planning Coordinator Rae Chidlow. 
 
OPENING STATEMENT – Chair Camps made the opening remarks. 
 
SWEARING IN WITNESSES 
Code Enforcement Officers Wallace, Snodgrass, and city staff, along with any of the public who 
may testify were sworn in. 
 
Assistant City Attorney Dyen introduced the case.  
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
ITEM 1 – CASE NO. 26-000055 
 
Kolb Trust 
LOCATION OF VIOLATION: 1919 Sunset Lane 
VIOLATION: Section 18-53 (2)(3)(6)(11)(14) Nuisances; Section 18-54 Creation of Nuisance 
by Property Owner Declared Unlawful; Section 18-55 Notice to Abate; IPMC 109.1 Unsafe 
Conditions; 109.1.3 Structure unfit for human occupancy; 302.5 Rodent harborage 
 
Code Enforcement Officer Snodgrass explained the case. He said the property owner has been 
sent proper notice and is present. He stated the property is in compliance. City’s recommendation 
to find the Respondent was in violation and that Code Enforcement will have the right to re-
inspect the property upon any reasonable request during the next 60 days. Furthermore, to assess 
an administrative cost of $61.35 for costs associated with the case.  
 

Page 12



2 

Respondent was present and sworn in.  
 
City Attorney Christian Waugh explained that the city was treating the case with an unusually 
high level of seriousness due to the ongoing nature of the violations. He stated that special 
meetings of this kind are rare and emphasized that the presence of city officials, council 
members, and concerned residents reflected the significance of the matter. He explained that the 
city was seeking stronger remedies than in typical code enforcement cases, including 
investigative costs and the maximum penalties allowed, because of repeated issues associated 
with the property. He said that even though the property may have already come into compliance 
by the time of the hearing, the city was still requesting a formal finding of violation so that any 
future violations could legally be treated as repeat offenses, allowing for increased fines and 
stronger enforcement measures. He stressed that the city’s primary goal is achieving long-term 
compliance and preventing the need for future enforcement actions, while also indicating that 
additional enforcement efforts related to the property were ongoing outside the scope of the 
current hearing. 
 
Board Member Barone asked if an action plan was provided to the property owner.  
 
Mr. Snodgrass stated that the City cannot create an action plan for Respondents. He stated that 
they explain to them what needs to be done to meet compliance requirements. 
 
William Kolb, owner of 1919 Sunset Lane, stated that it was his intention to completely vacate 
the property within a matter of weeks so it could be thoroughly cleaned and repaired. He 
acknowledged that his son was currently living at the home but said he intended to remove all 
occupants, including squatters, within 30 days. He apologized to both the Board and neighboring 
residents for the problems and repeated violations associated with the property over the past 
several years. He stated that he wanted to remedy the situation by eliminating unauthorized 
occupancy and preventing future access. He explained that he planned to secure the property by 
replacing doors, locks, and potentially windows to stop homeless individuals or others from 
entering. He also discussed plans to hire cleanup services, obtain dumpsters, disinfect the 
property, and address sanitation concerns to prevent pests or rodents. He indicated that while 
formal contracts were not yet in place, he intended to move quickly on cleanup and rehabilitation 
efforts and expected the squatters to leave immediately, with his son vacating within 30 days. 
 
Board member Connelly asked the Respondent if he agreed to the violations.  
 
Mr. Kolb stated that yes, they have been happening and cleaning up.  
 
Board member Barone asked if there was any structural damage.  
 
Mr. Snodgrass stated that there was not any structural damage.  
 
Patricia Woodhouse, 2010 Sunset Lane, addressed the Board regarding the nuisance property at 
1919 Sunset Lane, that she says has caused serious safety, sanitation, and criminal concerns for 
more than seven years. She described the property as unsanitary and dangerous, citing boarded 
windows, garbage, vermin, needles found on-site, roaming pit bulls, and repeated police and 

Page 13



3 

SWAT activity connected to drug-related incidents and arrests. She argued that the city has legal 
authority under Florida code enforcement laws to take stronger action through fines, liens, unsafe 
structure proceedings, or demolition if warranted, and criticized past enforcement efforts as 
insufficient. She emphasized the impact on nearby residents, including families with young 
children, tenants, and neighbors who have endured ongoing disturbances, fear, and declining 
neighborhood conditions. While acknowledging the work of city officials, code enforcement 
staff, and police, she urged the board to act immediately with aggressive enforcement measures 
and stated that residents are done waiting for a meaningful resolution. 

Daryl Woodhouse, 2010 Sunset Lane, mentioned the ongoing problems caused by 1919 Sunset 
Lane that has affected the neighborhood for approximately seven years. He expressed 
appreciation for the comments made by property owner Bill Kolb and hoped meaningful 
corrective action will finally be taken. He said the constant criminal activity, drug-related issues, 
and repeated police presence near the property have become intolerable for nearby residents. 
While noting that state law could ultimately allow authorities to demolish a nuisance property if 
conditions continue to deteriorate, he emphasized that he does not want that outcome and instead 
hopes the property can be rehabilitated, properly managed, or sold responsibly. He stressed that 
residents should not be expected to live near ongoing criminal activity and concluded by 
thanking the Board for its attention, saying neighbors finally feel progress may be occurring and 
that the owner may now be taking the situation seriously. 

Paul Shaver, 800 Center Lane, addressed the board about the severe impact a nearby nuisance 
property has had on the community. He stated that he has lived in the area for 30 years and 
described the situation as a nightmare that has subjected residents to years of fear, criminal 
activity, police raids, overdoses, deaths, and ongoing disturbances tied to the property. He 
emphasized that the issue extends far beyond the condition of the home itself, affecting 
surrounding neighborhoods, public safety resources, schools, bus stops, and the overall sense of 
safety in the community. He argued that repeated law enforcement responses and emergency 
incidents have created an unacceptable burden on both residents and the city. While 
acknowledging the property owner’s promise to repair the house, he expressed doubt that simply 
renovating the structure while allowing the same individuals to remain involved would solve the 
problem. He urged the Board to make the necessary decision to permanently address the 
situation, suggesting the property should be sold to someone who would responsibly manage it. 
He asked officials to act in the best interest of the neighborhood after nearly seven years of 
ongoing problems. 

Deborah Navaro, 947 Sunset Lane, stated that she moved there in December 2025. She 
addressed the Board about the impact a nearby nuisance property has had on her family and the 
surrounding community. She stated that in just four months living on the street, she has 
witnessed more police activity than in her previous 30 years living in Florida, connected to the 
neighboring property. She described a recent incident in which two individuals associated with 
the house were arrested in front of her home and where six people were arrested while her 10-
year-old granddaughter watched police place individuals in handcuffs early in the morning. She 
mentioned a frightening encounter in which a roaming pit bull from the property cornered her 
and her two grandchildren, leaving her fearful of their safety. She praised the surrounding 
neighbors and said that she loves the community and would even consider purchasing the home 

Page 14



4 

she currently rents. She said the ongoing criminal activity and unsafe conditions have made her 
hesitant to invest in the neighborhood. She urged the Board to make the right decision regarding 
the property, expressing her belief that the owner should sell the home and remove those causing 
the disturbances so the neighborhood can regain safety and stability. 
 
Riley Scott, 1929 Sunset Lane, spoke about the ongoing problems caused by 1919 Sunset Lane 
and the effect it has had on her family and the community. While expressing sympathy for the 
property owner and the difficult situation involving his son, she said she could not sympathize 
with allowing the son and his associates to continue bringing criminal activity, drug use, and 
unsafe conditions into the neighborhood. She described repeated police activity at the home, 
including an incident where the owner’s son was tased in her front yard while her own child was 
a newborn. She said there is constant foot traffic, suspicious activity, unpleasant odors coming 
from the property, and frequent gatherings of people late into the night, all of which have created 
a persistent sense of fear and instability for nearby residents. She also spoke about concerns over 
roaming dogs and the safety of children living on the street, noting that neighbors are afraid for 
their families and often feel unsafe in their own homes. She argued that unless the owner’s son is 
removed from the property, the problems will continue regardless of cleanup or repairs, as 
criminal activity quickly resumes even after law enforcement raids. She concluded by expressing 
hope that officials will take meaningful action so the neighborhood can once again feel safe, 
allowing children to play outside without fear of drugs, crime, or dangerous animals. 

Gayle Tomasini, 4049 Greystone Drive, stated she was a former landlord for more than 30 years 
in Massachusetts. She addressed the Board to express concerns about the long-term management 
of the nuisance property under discussion. She explained her own experience handling a tenant 
involved in drug activity and explained that she had previously taken swift action to evict the 
tenant despite the difficulty of doing so under Massachusetts law and even chose to leave the 
property vacant for several years to prevent further criminal activity. She stated that while 
rehabilitating the property itself is important, her primary concern is what measures the owner 
will take moving forward to properly screen future tenants, conduct background checks, and 
respond quickly if similar issues arise again. She emphasized that residents want reassurance that 
the neighborhood will not face another prolonged period of criminal activity and instability and 
urged the Board and property owner to focus on preventing the situation from repeating in the 
future. 

Chase Kolb, 1919 Sunset Lane, acknowledged responsibility for many of the issues raised by the 
neighbors. He explained that he has lived at the property for 23 years and said the neighborhood 
had historically been peaceful before recent problems developed. He stated that he had allowed 
homeless individuals and friends in difficult circumstances to stay temporarily at the home out of 
compassion, offering them necessities such as food, showers, and a place to charge phones, but 
admitted that he failed to properly assess the consequences of allowing unfamiliar people onto 
the property. He denied allegations of drug dealing occurring at the home and argued that some 
accusations and police actions were exaggerated or based on incorrect information, though he 
acknowledged that individuals staying at the property had recently been arrested and that the 
level of traffic and activity understandably alarmed neighbors. He defended the pit bulls living 
on the property as non-aggressive but admitted they frightened residents and stated the dogs 
would no longer remain there. He also emphasized that his father was largely unaware of what 

Page 15



5 

had been happening at the house and acted quickly whenever problems came to his attention. He 
apologized to neighbors for the disturbances and disruption the situation caused, acknowledged 
that he had made poor decisions by allowing too many people to access the property, and stated 
that he would be permanently stepping away from living at the home once the property is 
cleaned up and restored under his father’s supervision. 

Terry Bell, 705 Hook Street, stated that he believes property owner Bill Kolb intends to follow 
through on the commitments made to restore the home, but emphasized that if Chase Kolb 
remains involved in the cleanup process, he should only be present under the supervision of a 
responsible adult, contractor, or other oversight. He apologized for not intervening sooner 
despite being aware of many of the problems over the years, explaining that his work often kept 
him out of town while residents continued enduring the disturbances daily. He described Chase, 
Tabitha, and Bill Kolb as good people personally, but acknowledged that the situation had 
spiraled out of control due in part to homeless individuals and people with mental health and 
substance abuse issues congregating at the property. Bell argued that many of the individuals 
involved were vulnerable people taking advantage of the Kolb family’s willingness to help them. 
He acknowledged the repeated police presence and suspicious activity he had personally 
observed through home security footage. He expressed appreciation for law enforcement but 
questioned whether stronger intervention could have occurred sooner. He concluded by stating 
his belief that Bill Kolb would now take control of the situation and end the ongoing problems 
with the property.  
 
Patricia Woodhouse responded by disputing the issue was simply helping homeless individuals, 
citing recent arrests involving copper wire theft, the dangerous encounters with roaming pit 
bulls, severe unsanitary conditions inside the home, and years of unresolved code violations and 
criminal activity. She questioned what enforcement mechanisms the city would pursue if the 
problems continued and insisted she would continue attending meetings and pressing officials 
until the property issues were permanently resolved. 
 
City Attorney Christian Waugh addressed the Board and audience regarding the ongoing issues 
surrounding the Sunset Lane property, emphasizing his responsibility to represent the public 
interest and the City’s position on the matter. He acknowledged that it took courage for Chase 
Kolb to speak publicly and commended residents for remaining generally fair and restrained in 
their comments despite the seriousness of the situation. He stated that he viewed Chase Kolb’s 
testimony as largely an abdication of personal responsibility and expressed concern over remarks 
that appeared critical of the Clermont Police Department. He firmly defended the police, stating 
that officers were acting lawfully and appropriately, with probable cause and reasonable 
suspicion guiding arrests and enforcement actions connected to the property. He stressed that the 
police department, city staff, and city leadership are committed partners in addressing the 
nuisance property and restoring safety and security to the neighborhood. He concluded by 
making clear that the City’s official position is that residents should not have to endure the 
conditions and criminal activity described during the hearing, noting that the presence of City 
Council members at the meeting reflected the seriousness with which city leadership views the 
matter. 
 

Page 16



6 

Code Enforcement Attorney Patrick Brackins clarified the Board’s legal authority regarding the 
Sunset Lane property. He explained that the Board’s authority under Chapter 162 of Florida law 
is limited to the specific violations formally noticed in the case. He stated that the violations 
currently before the Board concerned only the interior conditions of the property identified in the 
March 12 notice of violation, not broader allegations related to criminal activity, nuisance 
behavior, or tenant removal. He stated Board members could encourage the property owner to 
pursue actions such as eviction but do not have the legal authority to order an eviction. He 
explained that the Board must act as a quasi-judicial body, basing its decisions only on 
competent and substantial evidence related to the noticed code violations. He stated that the 
property had been in violation until March 12 but now is in compliance. He explained that the 
City was requesting an adjudication of violation so that if the property falls out of compliance 
within the next 60 days, it could be treated as a repeat violation subject to stronger penalties, 
including fines of up to $500 per day. He stated that the property is to remain in compliance for 
60 days, allowing the City to make reasonable repairs and charge the costs back to the property 
owner, and assessing an administrative cost of $61.35. He explained that while the Board may 
consider whether a previously corrected violation posed a serious threat to public health, safety, 
and welfare, and may notify the City under certain statutory provisions so that additional 
enforcement options could be pursued if the issue recurs. He emphasized that the Board cannot 
order evictions, regulate who may occupy the property, require demolition, or address broader 
criminal or tenant-related matters within this proceeding.   
 
Board member Connelly pointed out that the property owner had acknowledged the code 
violations cited by the city as valid. He asked that while a voluntary agreement or consent by the 
property owner to take additional steps can be encouraged or recommended, it cannot be made as 
a binding requirement in the Board’s formal order. 
 
Mr. Brackins stated that they do not have the authority to put an order to any property owner that 
they evict somebody by a date certain as it is not part of Chapter 162. He stated that he could 
recommend that the property owner does it but not as part of an order.  
 
City Attorney Christian Waugh stated that the City does not want an order that could be 
appealed.  
 
Chair Camps asked about codes pertaining to the drug paraphernalia and things like that.  
 
Mr. Waugh stated that not in this specific case, but in yes there is a code section that is relevant 
to that.  
 
Mr. Brackins explained and clarified the staff’s recommendation regarding the case. He stated 
that there was nothing inappropriate about the recommendation as presented and suggested that, 
if the Board wished to provide additional clarity, it could formally find that the property was in 
violation but had come into compliance prior to the hearing. He then recommended that the 
Board accepts the staff’s proposal and includes language from the bottom of page 11 referencing 
public health, safety, and welfare. 
 

Page 17



7 

Member Connelly made a motion to find that the Respondent was in violation, and the property 
must stay in compliance for a period of 60 days and that Code Enforcement has the right to 
reinspect the property upon any reasonable request during those 60 days. If the property is found 
not in compliance during this period, the City may make all reasonable repairs to bring property 
into compliance and charge the property owner. An administrative cost of $61.35 will be 
assessed and find that the violation created a serious threat to the public health, safety, and 
welfare; Seconded by Member Cornett. Motion passed 6-0 in approval. 

City Attorney Christian Waugh informed the Board that upcoming amendments to the City’s 
code will soon be considered by City Council, which may affect how the Board operates. He 
explained that under a Florida statute, once a city reaches a population of 50,000, it becomes 
eligible to increase the maximum fines available for code enforcement penalties. He noted that 
the city has now reached that population threshold, meaning the City Council will consider 
adopting higher fine limits. 

Code Enforcement Board Attorney Patrick Brackins noting that the Board has several new 
members and that a brief training course on Sunshine Law, public records requirements, and 
ethics would be included at the next meeting. He explained that Florida’s Sunshine Law 
prohibits two or more Board members from discussing any matters that may come before the 
Board outside of official meetings, and that violations can carry serious consequences, including 
civil penalties and even misdemeanor charges for intentional violations. He also reminded 
members that emails and other communications related to Board matters are public records and 
must be preserved, not deleted, and may be subject to disclosure upon request. He discussed the 
importance of avoiding ex-part communications, emphasizing that Board members must base 
decisions solely on evidence presented during hearings and must disclose any outside contact or 
site visits related to cases. He encouraged transparency, fairness, and proper documentation of 
any interactions that could create a perception of bias, concluding that a more formal 
presentation on these topics would be provided at the next meeting. 

AJDOURN 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:27 pm. 
 
 
 
 
                     _____________________________ 

  Chair Linda Camps 
 
Attest:          
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Rae Chidlow; Planning Coordinator 

Page 18



Page 19

rchidlow
Item 1



Page 20

rchidlow_1
Item 1



Page 21

rchidlow_2
Item 1



Page 22

rchidlow_3
Item 1



Page 23

rchidlow_4
Item 1



Page 24

rchidlow_5
Item 2



Page 25

rchidlow_6
Item 2



Page 26

rchidlow_7
Item 2



Page 27

rchidlow_8
Item 2



Page 28

rchidlow_9
Item 2



Page 29

rchidlow_10
Item 2



Page 30

rchidlow_11
Item 2



Page 31

rchidlow_12
Item 2



Page 32

rchidlow_13
Item 3



Page 33

rchidlow_14
Item 3



Page 34

rchidlow_15
Item 3



Page 35

rchidlow_16
Item 3



Page 36

rchidlow_17
Item 4



Page 37

rchidlow_18
Item 4



Page 38

rchidlow_19
Item 4



Page 39

rchidlow_20
Item 4



Page 40

rchidlow_21
Item 4



Page 41

rchidlow_22
Item 4



Page 42

rchidlow_23
Item 4



Page 43

rchidlow_24
Item 5



Page 44

rchidlow_25
Item 5



Page 45

rchidlow_26
Item 5



Page 46

rchidlow_27
Item 5



Page 47

rchidlow_28
Item 5



Page 48

rchidlow_29
Item 5



Page 49

rchidlow_30
Item 5



Page 50

rchidlow_31
Item 5



Page 51

rchidlow_32
Item 5



Page 52

rchidlow_33
Item 6



Page 53

rchidlow_34
Item 6



Page 54

rchidlow_35
Item 6



Page 55

rchidlow_36
Item 7



Page 56

rchidlow_37
Item 7



Page 57

rchidlow_38
Item 7



Page 58

rchidlow_39
Item 8



Page 59

rchidlow_40
Item 8



Page 60

rchidlow_41
Item 8



Page 61

rchidlow_42
ITEM 9



Page 62

rchidlow_43
ITEM 9



Page 63

rchidlow_44
ITEM 10



Page 64

rchidlow_45
ITEM 10



Page 65

rchidlow_46
ITEM 10



Page 66

rchidlow_47
ITEM 10


	 CALL TO ORDER
	 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	 MINUTES
	 Approval of the March 16, 2026, Code Enforcement m
	March 16, 2026 CEB Minutes

	 Approval of the April 29, 2026, Code Enforcement S
	April 29, 2026 CEB Minutes


	 OPENING STATEMENT
	 SWEARING IN WITNESSES
	 AGENDA
	 OTHER BUSINESS
	1 C2410-0015Snodgrass
	Item 1.

	2 C2502-0006Snodgrass
	Item 2.

	3 C2409-0026Cortez
	Item 3.

	4 C2507-0007Cortez
	Item 4.

	5 C2312-0028 & C2402-0057Cortez
	Item 5.


	 NEW BUSINESS
	6 26-000065Cortez
	Item 6.

	7 25-000149Cortez
	Item 7.

	8 25-000203 & 26-000083Cortez
	Item 8.

	9 26-000009Cortez
	Item 9.

	10 25-000090Snodgrass
	Item 10.


	 NOMINATION FOR CHAIR
	 NOMINATION FOR VICE-CHAIR
	 CODE BOARD MEMBER TRAINING
	 ADJOURN



